FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/24/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 5/24/2023 8:35 AM

102016-3

No. 84057-6-1 COURT OF APPEALS DIVISIONS I <u>OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON</u>

MICHAEL WALL, an individual

Appellant,

SHIPRA GROVER

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW IN SUPREME COURT

David A. Williams, WSBA # 12010 Law Office of David A. Williams 9 Lake Bellevue Dr. Ste. 104 Bellevue, WA 98005 Email: <u>daw@bellevue-law.com</u> Phone: 425-646-7767 Facsimile: 425-646-1011

Attorney for Appellant

1

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue: Should this Court recognize the concept "constructive filing" and hold that this case was "constructively filed" timely where (1) according to Plaintiff's Counsel's sworn Declaration, the Complaint was timely submitted through the Clerk's e-filing system, but (2) the filing "envelope" was (erroneously)"rejected" by the Clerk's Office; (3) upon discovering that the "envelope" had been rejected, Counsel called the Clerk's office and, (4) when told that the Summons had been filed properly but the Complaint had not been, asked if he could file the Complaint under the timely "envelope" but was refused, (5) counsel told the Clerk's office employee that he would immediately refile the Complaint and asked that she be on the "lookout", and (6) the Complaint was indeed filed, and receipt acknowledged, albeit 7 minutes after the Clerk's office "closed". Id.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was "e-filed" online at 1:58 on the afternoon of November 2nd, 2021, the three-year anniversary of the accident in question. Cp 5, p.1. "Fully aware that the Statute of Limitations would expire", Plaintiff's counsel "personally supervised [his] legal assistant" as she did the filing. Id. Counsel is "100% certain" that both the Summons and Complaint were uploaded onto the online filing portal. Id. Counsel "would not have left [his legal assistant's] workstation until satisfied to that effect. The E-filing "docket entry" of that filing shows receipt of the Summons, but apparently not the Complaint. CP 5, Ex. 1.

The Clerk's Office employee on duty "rejected" the filing, because, supposedly, the Complaint was not received. Counsel has "no idea how such a thing is/was possible and with all due respect to the hard-working and always gracious employees at the Snohomish County Clerk's office, absent absolute proof to the contrary, I regard it as for more likely that an error was made there than in my office." CP 5, p.2.

The Clerk notified counsel's legal assistant that the filing had been rejected by email timed at 2:56 that afternoon. CP 5, Ex.2 Counsel's legal assistant didn't see the email and inform him of the situation until about 4:15 that afternoon. CP 5, p.2. Counsel immediately called the Clerk's office and was told, again, that the Complaint had not been filed and that he now had about 9 minutes to get it done. Id.

Counsel asked if the Complaint could be "re-submitted" under the original filing "envelope", since the original acknowledgment of receipt says to "allow up to 2 business days for clerk's office processing" and was told: "No". CP 5, p.2.

Counsel told the Clerk's office employee that he would be immediately re-filing and to please watch out for it. Id.

The Complaint and Summons were refiled online, the process being completed at 4:37. CP 5, p. 3. Counsel received an acknowledgement from the Clerk's office stating that the filing "has been submitted to the Clerk's office for review". CP 5, Ex. 3.

The next morning at about 7:01 Counsel's legal assistant received a "dated" copy of the Complaint, indicating that it had been "accepted'. The copy was "dated" November 3rd, though it had undisputedly been in the Clerk's office's possession the afternoon of the 2^{nd} .

Defense counsel appeared and moved to dismiss the case as being untimely filed. CP 4. The Motion was granted. CP 9. This appeal timely followed. CP 12. The Court of Appeals affirmed with the attached unpublished opinion.

ARGUMENT

<u>The Court Can Hold That The Complaint</u> <u>Was Constructively Filed</u>

According to GR 30 (c), "an electronic document is filed when it is received by the clerk's designated computer during the clerk's business hours". According to Williams' Declaration, the Complaint <u>was</u> filed within the Clerk's "business hours" but erroneously rejected by the Clerk's office. And it was indisputably "submitted to the Clerk for review" that afternoon, albeit 7 minutes after the Clerk's "designated hours" had concluded.

Federal cases have recognized the concept of "constructive filing".

In <u>Ordonez v. Johnson</u>, 254 F.3rd 814, 816 (9h Cir. 2001), the District Court dismissed a case where the Complaint had been timely field but returned because it did not comply with a local rule; the 9th Circuit reversed, saying:

"We conclude that the district court abused its discretion because Ordonez <u>constructively filed</u> his first amended complaint on March 2nd, 2000, five days before the deadline. 'We have previously held that a complaint is filed when it is placed in the actual <u>or constructive</u> custody of the clerk [of the court], despite any subsequent rejection by [the clerk] of the pleading for noncompliance with a provision of the local rules [citation]" (emphasis added)

In Loya v. Desert Sands Unified School Dist., 721

F.2d 279, 281, (9th Cir. 1983), the Court held:

"[F]or <u>purposes of the statute of limitations</u> the district court should regard as "filed" a complaint which arrives in the <u>custody of the clerk</u> within the statutory period but fails to conform with formal requirements in local rules." (emphasis added)

Again, the Complaint was received and

acknowledged by the Clerk's office on November 2nd,

albeit at 4:37, within the statutory period.

Notably, the Complaint was "accepted" at 7:01 in the morning the day after it was filed----well <u>outside</u> the Snohomish County Clerk's published office hours. But the Complaint was found to be "untimely" because it was filed at 4:37 the afternoon before----<u>seven minutes</u> <u>outside those hours</u>, and this with at least one employee in the Clerk's office well aware that it was coming! Was the Clerk's Office deserted those seven minutes later?

CONCLUSION

Appellant asks the Court to hold that under the circumstances of this case, the Complaint was constructively filed in a timely manner.

Date this day of May, 2023

David A. Williams, WSBA #12010

David A. Williams, WSBA #12010 Attorney for Appellant