FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/24/2023 11:49 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SC No. 102016-3

COA No. 84057-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL WALL, Appellant,

v.

SHIPRA GROVER, Respondent.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Amme Verbarendse, WSBA #52845 Anderson Hunter Law Firm 2707 Colby Ave., Suite 1001 Everett, WA 98201 averbarendse@andersonhunterlaw.com

Phone: 425-373-3504 Facsimile: 425-373-3504 Attorney for Respondent

I. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals correctly applied Washington law regarding constructive filing and tolling the statute of limitations for this tort action. Wall argues again for the application of federal precedent on constructive filing with dissimilar facts. There is no dispute that the summons and complaint had to be filed or served before 4:30p.m. on November 2, 2021 for this action to be commenced within the applicable statute of limitations. This did not occur.

II. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Respondent Shipra Grover requests that the Court deny review of the Court of Appeals decision.

III. RESTATEMENT OF ISSUE

Whether Appellant Wall's Summons and Complaint were received by the Superior Court Clerk before the statute of limitations expired.

IV. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of a car accident that occurred on November 2, 2018. Appellant Wall alleges that

Respondent Grover was negligent in causing the accident involving them.¹ Counsel for Wall asserts that he personally supervised his legal assistant, Syrena Pendley, as she electronically filed the subject Summons and Complaint at 1:58pm on November 2, 2021.² There is no evidence that the Complaint was actually received by the Snohomish County Clerk. Wall's first filing was under envelope #57731 and was rejected with a listed reason of "complaint required to initiate case."³

Notice of the rejected filing was sent to Syrena Pendley via email at 2:56pm on November 2, 2021.⁴ The same return reason was listed in this email, complaint required to initiate case.⁵ No cause number was given and no complaint was received.⁶ Wall then electronically filed his Summons and Complaint at 4:37pm on November 2, 2021, after court closure.⁷

_

¹ See CP 37-38.

² CP 23.

³ CP 27.

⁴ CP 29.

⁵ *Id*.

⁶ *Id*.

⁷ CP 31.

Dena Carmel, a Judicial Process Supervisor from the Snohomish County Clerk's Office, reviewed the court file submission from Counsel for Wall, where he indicated that he sent the Complaint with the Summons at 1:58pm. Ms. Carmel confirmed that no complaint was received within court hours on November 2, 2021.8 Court hours at Snohomish Superior Court are from 8:30am to 4:30pm.

Grover served and filed a motion to dismiss on February 4, 2021. The hearing was noted for February 15, 2021 in compliance with local rules. 10

On February 15, 2021, the Honorable Anita L. Farris granted Grover's motion to dismiss Wall's claims. 11

On April 24, 2023, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision.

⁹ CP 11, 13, 34.

⁸ *Id*.

¹⁰ *Id*. at 11.

¹¹ CP 5-6.

V. **ARGUMENT**

A. Statute of Limitations

Under RCW 4.16.080(2), personal injury actions, such as the present action, are limited to three years. Under RCW 4.16.170 and 4.28.010, actions are deemed commenced when the Complaint is filed or Summons is served, whichever occurs first. In this case, the Complaint was not filed and the Summons was not served on Ms. Grover within the three year statutory period. The Complaint was filed on November 3, 2021. Therefore the action was not timely commenced and must be dismissed.

B. The Complaint Cannot be Constructively Filed When It Was Never Received By The Clerk.

Wall has admitted that GR 30(c) requires that electronically filed documents are received by the clerk's designated computer during the clerk's business hours.¹² GR 30(c) also provides that documents received outside of clerk's business hours are considered filed at the

¹² See GR 30(c).

beginning of the next business day.¹³ Rejected filings from the clerk under GR 30(c)(3), must notify the filing party and provide a reason therefor.¹⁴ Wall filed his Summons during regular business hours on November 2, 2021.¹⁵ Wall failed to file his Summons and the Complaint electronically during normal business hours on the last possible day.

Further, the rejected filing was returned to Wall prior to the close of normal business hours and with a reason—no complaint received. Wall had a little over 90 minutes to re-file the summons and complaint. He did not do so.

There are no Washington cases that have recognized the concept of "constructive filing" when the Complaint was never in the possession of the Clerk. Similarly, the court of appeals previously rejected the idea

 13 *Id*.

¹⁴ *Id*.

¹⁵ CP 29.

of "constructive acceptance" of a filing under RCW 4.16.170.¹⁶

Wall argues for application of federal precedent where the clerk had actual possession of the Complaint prior to the close of business hours. There, the filing deficiencies are not comparable to the present action.

In Ordonez¹⁷ and Loya¹⁸, the rejected pleadings were not compliant with a "requirement of form" rule but were actually in the clerk's possession within the applicable statutory period. Here, we do not have the wrong size paper, wrong size font, incorrect citations, unsigned complaint, failure to provide judge's copies, or a missing cover sheet.¹⁹

_

¹⁶ Margetan v. Superior Chair Craft Co., 92 Wn. App. 240, 963 P.2d 907 (1998).

¹⁷ See *Ordonez v. Johnson*, 354 F.3d 814 (9th Cir. 2001), filing rejected per local rule requiring an additional copy for Judge's use upon filing.

¹⁸ See *Loya v. Desert Sands Unified School Dist.*, 721 F.2d 281 (9th Cir.1983), filing rejected for incorrect paper size submitted to clerk prior to expiration of statute of limitations.

¹⁹ Examples of form requirements that federal courts have permitted the application of "Constructive Filing".

In this case, the pleading required to commence litigation and confer jurisdiction, the complaint, was never received by the clerk within normal business hours.

VI. The Court Should Award RAP 18.9 Terms

This Court may deny a petition for review and order the petitioner to pay fees for a frivolous petition pursuant to RAP 18.9. An award of sanctions is an extraordinary action and should not be done lightly. However, in this case, sanctions are warranted.

VII. CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully asks the Court to deny Wall's petition for review and award fees and costs to Grover for this frivolous appeal.

I declare this brief to contain 1,130 words.